



# **REPORT**

# IPPC High-level Symposium on Cooperation of the Phytosanitary Measures among the Chinese Initiative "One Belt" Countries

Xi-An, China 27-30 May 2019

**IPPC Secretariat** 

International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC). 2019. IPPC High-level Symposium on Cooperation of the Phytosanitary Measures among the Chinese Initiative "One Belt" Countries Xi'an, China. 16 pages. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this information product do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) concerning the legal or development status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. The mention of specific companies or products of manufacturers, whether or not these have been patented, does not imply that these have been endorsed or recommended by FAO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned.

The views expressed in this information product are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of FAO.

© FAO, [2019]



Some rights reserved. This work is made available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo/legalcode/legalcode).

Under the terms of this licence, this work may be copied, redistributed and adapted for non-commercial purposes, provided that the work is appropriately cited. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that FAO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the FAO logo is not permitted. If the work is adapted, then it must be licensed under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If a translation of this work is created, it must include the following disclaimer along with the required citation: "This translation was not created by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). FAO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the authoritative edition.

Disputes arising under the licence that cannot be settled amicably will be resolved by mediation and arbitration as described in Article 8 of the licence except as otherwise provided herein. The applicable mediation rules will be the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization <a href="http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules">http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules</a> and any arbitration will be conducted in accordance with the Arbitration Rules of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL).

**Third-party materials.** Users wishing to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, are responsible for determining whether permission is needed for that reuse and for obtaining permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

Sales, rights and licensing. FAO information products are available on the FAO website (<a href="www.fao.org/publications">www.fao.org/publications</a>) and can be purchased through <a href="publications-sales@fao.org">publications-sales@fao.org</a>. Requests for commercial use should be submitted via: <a href="www.fao.org/contact-us/licence-request">www.fao.org/contact-us/licence-request</a>. Queries regarding rights and licensing should be submitted to: <a href="copyright@fao.org">copyright@fao.org</a>

2019-03-25: Regarding the Strategy and Process for the development of the

IPPC Guides and training materials, the "Strategy" for the Development of

IPPC Guides and Training Materials was added Appendix 15, and the text on

the "Process" was consolidated into Appendix 16.

#### **Contents**

IPP	C High-level Symposium on Cooperation of the Phytosanitary Measures among the Chinese Initiative "One Belt" Countries
1.	Opening of the Meeting4
2.	Administrative Matters
	2.1. Adoption of the Agenda4
	2.2. Participants List
	2.3 Election of the Rapporteurs
3.	Keynote Address5
	3.1. Overview of the IPPC Project on Capacity Development under the Framework of the FAO-China SSC Programme5
	3.2. Overview of the FAO-China SSC Progamme in Relation to Plant Health5
4.	Report from China: Regulatory aspects6
5.	Report from China: Technical aspects6
	5.2. Report on Phytosanitary Education System6
	5.3. Report on e-Certification System
6.	Report from China: Operational aspects
	6.1 Domestic Plant Quarantine in Shaanxi province
	6.2. Domestic board control in Shaanxi province
7.	Introduction of Chinese Green Plant Protection products
8.	Country Reports from Africa Region8
9.	Country Reports from East and Central Europe and Central Asia Region8
10.	Country Reports from Near East Region8
11.	Reports from RPPOs8
12.	Panel Discussion9
	12.1. Challenges
	12.2. Area of cooperation9
	12.3. Recommendation to NPPO, RPPO and China9
13.	Conclusions and Future Work9
API	PENDIX 1: Agenda11
API	PENDIX 2: Participants List

#### 1. Opening of the Meeting

- [1] Mr Jingyuan XIA, the Secretary of the International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC) opened the session by welcoming all participants to China and to the second High Level Symposium. He further welcomed the representatives from the different Chinese phytosanitary ministries, agencies, departments, and industries. He noted that more than 30 participants from 22 countries attended the symposium and 2 RPPOs (NEPPO and IAPSC).
- The IPPC Secretary outlined the three main objectives for this Symposium: 1) to better understand Chinese initiative BRI and Chinese phytosanitary system; 2) to facilitate the exchange of information at the global, regional and national levels within the Belt region; and 3) to engage in discussions on areas of possible cooperation.
- The IPPC Secretary Xia indicated that the IPPC is implementing the IPPC China South-South Cooperation (SSC) project amounting to USD 2 million for 4 years (2017-2020). He noted that two High Level Symposia have been organized with the support of the IPPC-China project: the first one for the Chinese "One Road" initiative including countries mainly from Asia, the Pacific, the Caribbean and Latin America; and the second one for the Chinese "One Belt" initiative including countries mainly from Central Asia, Eastern Europe, the Near East and Africa.
- [4] The IPPC Secretary highlighted that city Xi'an is the starting point of the ancient Chinese Silk Road. He noted that the Symposium arranged many activities for information sharing and discussion. Besides that, there were two side events for presentation and demonstration of Chinese green plant protection technologies, and the field visit to the local Sex pheromone industry and the agricultural university. He encouraged that the participants be active in each activity to make the Symposium successful.
- Mr Minghui Ning, Division chief of the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affair (MARA) of China, Ms Junwen Lou, Deputy Director of the General Administration of Customs of (GAC) of China, Mr Shuren Liu, Deputy Director of the Administration of Forestry and Grassland (AFG) of China, Mr Siguang Huang, Director General of the Agriculture Department (AGD) of Shaanxi Province, and Ms Daria Janjic Nisavic, Assistant Minister of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Water Management of Serbia, provided welcome addresses and briefed their roles and responsibility on national plant phytosanitary issues and their willingness for the future cooperation under the Chinese "One Belt and One Road" Initiative.

#### 2. Administrative Matters

#### 2.1. Adoption of the Agenda

[6] The agenda is presented in Appendix 1.

#### 2.2. Participants List

[7] Participants list is made available in Appendix 2.

#### 2.3 Election of the Rapporteurs

[8] Ms Faith NDUNGE (Kenya) and Ms Raymonda JOHNSON (Sierra Leone) were elected as Rapporteurs.

#### 3. Keynote Address

# 3.1. Overview of the IPPC Project on Capacity Development under the Framework of the FAO-China SSC Programme

- [9] The IPPC Secretary Mr Xia highlighted four components of the IPPC-China project on capacity development under the Framework of the FAO-China SSC Programme: 1) Demands for IPPC Contracting Parties (CPs); 2) Relevance of the IPPC FAO-China SSC project; 3) Core Activities and Budget; and 4) Outcome and Output with Key Indicators.
- This project is expected to ensure food security; to increase agricultural productivity of participating pilot countries by 1-2 percent; and to strengthen the capacity of participating CPs to implement the IPPC and its International Standards for Phytosanitary Measures (ISPMs). The output indicators include capacity developed for 300 representatives from 100 CPs; bilateral and inter-regional cooperation enhanced; and increased presence and visibility of plant health. Participants were informed of the achievements of the project including: supporting two IPPC Regional Workshops (69 participants from 37 CPs) and two National Reporting Obligations Workshops (49 participants from 34 CPs); setting two pilot sites (Cambodia and Sri-Lanka); organizing the "One Road" High Level Symposium; organizing the "One Belt" High Level Symposium; and supporting the International Year of Plant Health (IYPH) activities.

#### 3.2. Overview of the FAO-China SSC Progamme in Relation to Plant Health

- [11] Dr Shengyao Tang, the Director of Office of South-South and Triangular Cooperation (OSS) of FAO, made a presentation focusing on FAO's SSTC Strategy and FAO-China SSC Programme including: introduction of SSC; South-South and Triangular Cooperation (SSTC) at FAO; overview of FAO-China SSC Programme; contribution of FAO-China SSC Programme to the Global Plant Health; and the way towards future SSTC of FAO.
- SSC is one kind of cooperation that developing countries can work together to share the experience, technologies and forming broad consensus. Since FAO officially launched South-South Cooperation (SSC) within the framework of SPFS in 1996, China has been an active participator, major promoter and generous contributor of FAO's SSTC. China contributed USD 80 million to FAO to establish FAO-China SSC Trust Fund (in 2009 and 2015). In January of 2019, the office of SSC changed its name to SSTC for seeking the cooperation assisted with one or more developed countries. Triangular Cooperation involves two or more countries of the global South in collaboration with a third party, typically a multilateral institution, traditional resource partner, or emerging economy, facilitating SSC through the provision of technical or financial resources. In the future, FAO will be fully responsive and proactive to ideals and demands from the Global South, act on leadership and partnership, and use SSTC as a policy and tool utilized to its full potential to achieve FAO's mandates and 2030 Agenda.

#### 4. Report from China: Regulatory aspects

#### 4.1. Report on Agriculture Phytosanitary System

[13] Mr Fuxiang WANG introduced the Chinese agriculture phytosanitary system. He covered its laws and regulations; organization and staff; plant quarantine implementation; communication; training; and win-win cooperation. He highlighted the prevention and control work and achievement of Codling moth and Colorado Beetle, Red imported fire ant, citrus greening disease and FAW. He also introduced the Information System Construction in China.

#### 4.2. Report on Border Control Phytosanitary System

[14] Ms Junwen LOU gave a presentation on the export and import trade of agri-products in China; and the organization, functions and regulatory system of the entry and exit plant quarantine system of China. Last April, because of the institution reform, the AQSIQ was merged into GAC. She noted the challenge brought by emerging issues including articles carried by passengers and delivered by post, sea containers and ePhyto.

#### 5. Report from China: Technical aspects

#### 5.1. Report on Phytosanitary Research System for Agriculture

[15] Ms Junlian Chen from Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences (CAAS) presented Phytosanitary Research System for Agriculture in China on behalf of Dr Xueping Zhou, DG of Plant Protection Research Institute of CAAS-China. She also gave an overview of the framework for the extension system in China. It was reported that of the 100 most threatening species in the world, more than 50 were found in China. In the past 10 years, more than 20 new species spread in China with an average increment of 1-2 species per year, and the intrusion speed was dozens of times faster than in before 1980s. CASS and some universities, working on both basic and applied research, and more than 30 local plant protection institutions for each Province are also the main organizations working on applied research. CASS presents awards for research achievements.

#### 5.2. Report on Phytosanitary Education System

[16] Ms Zhihong LI introduced the phytosanitary education system in China. She covered the general situation; common practices and challenges; and opportunities and prospects for phytosanitary education. After they joined to the WTO, China pays high attention to the phytosanitary education. The development of PQIB (Plant quarantine and invasive bio-lab) has three missions: education, research and services. The challenges of Chinese phytosanitary system include increasing movement of pests, global changes and the most important one – evolution of pests.

#### 5.3. Report on e-Certification System

[17] Ms. Lin Jing of GAC China explained that China Customs is a border agency supervising inbound and outbound activities and has centralized organization structure. Its key functions include: customs control, revenue collection, entry-exit inspection and quarantine, fighting against smuggling and foreign trade statistics compilation. It also manages tasks including port management, management of border operations, audit-based customs control, customs enforcement of intellectual property rights and international customs cooperation. In China,

quarantine operation workforce commenced operation as an integral part of Customs. Customs issues various e-certificates. Chinese e-Cert system is designed according to international standards, it is flexible in terms of data exchange, it is efficient as information can be verified in real time and it is secure. In future, this work will focus on further perfecting the functions of the China e-Cert, promoting international e-Cert development and accelerating the process of paperless certification.

#### 6. Report from China: Operational aspects

#### 6.1 Domestic Plant Quarantine in Shaanxi province

[18] Mr Dongsheng Fan, Director, Plant Protection Station of Shaanxi Province, provided overview of plant quarantine institution in Shaanxi province, pest occurrence prevention and control and plant quarantine law enforcement in Shaanxi province. The Plant Protection department of Shaanxi Province is responsible for monitoring and early warning and technical guidance on prevention and control of crop diseases, pests, weeds and runs investigations of quarantine violations (approximately 100 illegal cases every year).

#### 6.2. Domestic board control in Shaanxi province

[19] Ms Li Zhan from GAC, Shaanxi Province gave an overview of phytosanitary measures of Shaanxi province. Shaanxi Province is large in producing food and exports various fruits and fruit products to many countries. Shaanxi Province is known for apple production. 180 thousand tons of fruit was exported from Shaanxi Province in 2018, majorly apples.

#### 7. Introduction of Chinese Green Plant Protection products

- [20] The following Six representatives from China's Agricultural Industry attended the Symposium:
  - Ms Huiyuan ZHAO from Hebi Jiaduo Science, Industry and Trade Co. Ltd.
  - Mr Cui MO from Pherobio Technology Co. Ltd.
  - Mr Jiyang WU from Shaanxi Sunger Road Bio-Science Co. Ltd.
  - Mr Yihua XU from Sino-Agri Fengmao Plant Protection Machineray Co. Ltd.
  - Mr William XIE from Shenzhen DJI Innovation technology Co. Ltd.
  - Mr Aoxiang SHI from Guangxi Nanning Heyi Biological Control Co. Ltd.
- [21] They presented products, innovations and technology; and in particular:
  - automatic test and control system of plant disease and insect pest;
  - application technology of semiochemicals;
  - the mechanism and application technology of phthalanilic acid;
  - agricultural unmanned aerial vehicle; and
  - biological control.

#### 8. Country Reports from Africa Region

- Twelve NPPOs from African region delivered the country reports on their national overview of their phytosanitary systems, such as Democratic Republic of Congo, Kenya, Ghana, Madagascar, Malawi, Mozambique, Nigeria, Sierra Leone, Tunisia, Uganda, Zambia, and Zimbabwe. They provided their country profile and information on their phytosanitary system, emerging issues and possible areas for cooperation with China, other "One Belt" countries and the IPPC Secretariat.
- [23] Several pests such as fall army worm (Spodoptera frugiperda), Tomato leaf miner (Tutta absoluta), Red palm weevils (Rhyncophorus ferrugineuss), Banana wilt TR4 (Fusarium oxysporum f.sp.cubense Race 4), and Xylella fastidiosa were of common concern as the emerging pests of the African countries. The opportunities of these countries is their government's rising awareness of phytosanitary issues. However, there are still some challenges such as limited financial back up and inefficient phytosanitary capacity that includes weak legislation, lack of early warning system etc. Potential improvement areas mainly include phytosanitary capacity evaluation, pest risk analysis, harmonization of regulations, electronic phytosanitary certificate implementation, technical staff training including higher education, quarantine labs, equipment and financial support.

#### 9. Country Reports from East and Central Europe and Central Asia Region

- Six NPPOs from East and Central Europe and Central Asia Region presented the country reports on their national overview of their phytosanitary systems, including Azerbaijan, Latvia, Malta, Russia, Serbia, and Turkey. They provided their country profile and information on their phytosanitary system, emerging issues and possible areas for cooperation with China, other "One Belt" countries and the IPPC Secretariat.
- [25] Major challenges in the region included harmonization of legal framework to accommodate efficient implementation of IPPC standards, pest surveillance, diagnosis, pest recordings and pest risk analysis.

#### 10. Country Reports from Near East Region

- [26] Four NPPOs from Near East Region addressed the country reports on their national overview of their phytosanitary systems: Egypt, Iraq, Jordan, and Yemen. They provided their country profile and information on their phytosanitary system, emerging issues and possible areas for cooperation with China, other "One Belt" countries and the IPPC Secretariat.
- Major challenges in the region included: legal framework need to be addressed in proactive way to be harmonized with the IPPC and SPS agreements, need for Phytosanitary Capacity Evaluation and higher education in the area of phytosanitary issues and plant quarantine.

#### 11. Reports from RPPOs

- [28] Mr Mekki CHOUIBANI from Morocco and Mr Jean Gérard MEZUI M'ELLA from Cameroon provided their regional profile and information on their phytosanitary system.
- [29] After completion of reporting from RPPOs, Mr Xia opened the discussion on Fall Army Worm. He reiterated that Fall Army Worm will most likely become a "super pest" globally in the next 5-10 years, although it only got established in Africa in 2016. He noted that it is extremely important to increase awareness of the Fall Army Worm.

- [30] Solutions on how to tackle FAW were discussed. One CPs proposed altering DNA of the pest to make pests sterile. Other proposed solution bio pesticides, training farmers to recognize FAW, putting traps, global cooperation. Counterfeits of pesticide chemicals, pesticide resistance and harmonized pesticides list were also discussed.
- [31] Chinese actions in fighting FAW were discussed, such as bio-pesticide, special authorization from government to use certain pesticides, system-approach.
- [32] Participants also noted limitations in ability of countries to control this pest.

#### 12. Panel Discussion

[33] IPPC Secretary invited participants to identify main challenges, areas of cooperation and recommendations in a panel discussion.

#### 12.1. Challenges

Participants identified main challenges to implement IPPC and its ISPMs, including implementation of ePhyto, pest management, handling emergencies, phytosanitary infrastructure, legal framework, training, and implementation of PCE and market access.

#### 12.2. Area of cooperation

Participants discussed potential areas of cooperation where they identified that exchange visits among NPPOs and scholarship opportunities in phytosanitary areas provided by countries that can afford to boost international cooperation on phytosanitary issues is vital.

#### 12.3. Recommendation to NPPO, RPPO and China

[36] Participants discussed and concluded that creation of Pest Free Areas, pilot projects on specific ISPMs, removal of legal barriers, identification of relevant projects and their implementation would be beneficial for participating countries.

#### 13. Conclusions and Future Work

- The IPPC Secretary concluded that the symposium was successful, fruitful and memorable. He stressed that this Symposium was co-organized by the International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC) Secretariat, the National Agro-technical Extension and Service Centre (NATESC) of MARA-China, and the Agriculture Department of Shaanxi Province. It was financially supported by the IPPC Global Project on Capacity Development under the Framework of the FAO-China SSC Programme. Several major achievements were accomplished as follows:
  - 1. **Increased awareness** of the importance of the Chinese initiative "One Belt and One Road"; the FAO-China SSC programme; and the IPPC project on capacity development under the framework of the FAO-China SSC programme;
  - 2. **Gained a better understanding** of the composition and function of Chinese Phytosanitary Systems, which is big, complex and unique in the world.
  - 3. **Identified** the major phytosanitary challenges among participating countries: i) insufficiency of technical support; ii) insufficiency of resources; iii) insufficiency of capacity; and iv) insufficiency of awareness and coordination.

- 4. **Agreed** with major areas of cooperation in promoting bilateral and inter-regional cooperation on phytosanitary measures among participating countries and regions, including: i) capacity development (staff capacity-training, institutional capacity); ii) technical support; iii) phytosanitary treatments; and ePhyto.and iv) PCE.
- 5. **Urged** the IPPC Secretariat, RPPOs, participating countries and the Chinese government to promote bilateral and inter-regional cooperation on phytosanitary measures with China.
- [38] The IPPC Secretary finally thanked all participants for their active participation and content that they provided to the Symposium. He acknowledged the efforts of the International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC) Secretariat, the National Agro-technical Extension and Service Centre (NATESC) of MARA-China, and the Agriculture Department of Shaanxi Province for the excellent organization.

### **APPENDIX 1: Agenda**

Day One –Monday 27 May			
Time	Topics	Presenter/Moderator	Venue
8:00-9:00	Arrival and Registration		
	Section 1: Opening of the Symposium	Moderator: Mr. Marko	
		Benovic	
	Opening Remarks by International Plant	Dr. Jingyuan Xia, IPPC	
	Protection Convention (IPPC) Secretariat	Secretary	
	Welcome Address by International	Senior officer from	
	Cooperation Department, Ministry of	International Cooperation	
	Agriculture and Rural Affair (MARA) of China	Department of MARA- China	
	Welcome Address by Crop Production and	Senior officer from Crop	
	Protection Department, Ministry of	Production and Protection	
9:00- 10:30	Agriculture and Rural Affair (MARA) of China	Department of MARA- China	
	Welcome Address by General Administration	Senior officer from GAC-	
	of Customs of (GAC) of China	China	
	Welcome Address by Administration of	Senior officer from AFG-	
	Forestry and Grassland (AFG) of China	China	
	Welcome Address by Agriculture Department	Senior officer from AGD of	
	(AGD) of Shaanxi Province	Shaanxi	
	Congratulation Address by Ministry of	Senior officer from MOA-	
	Agriculture (MOA) of Serbia	Serbia	
10:30-	Group Photo, and Coffee Break	All	
11:00			
	Section 2: Keynote Address	Moderator: Ms. Marica Gatt	
11:00-	Overview of the IPPC Project on Capacity	Dr. Jingyuan Xia, IPPC	
11:30	Development under the Framework of the	Secretary	
11.30	FAO-China SSC Programme		
11:30-	Overview of the FAO-China SSC Progamme in	Dr. Shengyao Tang,	
12:00	Relation to Plant Health	Director of FAO-SSC Office	
	Section 3: Report from China: Regulatory aspects	Moderator: Ms. Marica Gatt	
12:00- 12:30	Report on Agriculture Phytosanitary System	Senior expert from MARA- China	
12:30-	Report on Border Control Phytosanitary	Senior expert from GAC-	
13:00	System	China	
13:00- 14:00	Lunch	All	

	Section 4: Report from China: Technical aspects	Moderator: Ms. Marica Gatt	
14:00- 14:20	Report on Phytosanitary Research System	Dr. Xueping Zhou, DG of Plant Protection Research Institute of CAAS-China	
14:20- 14:40	Report on Phytosanitary Education System	Dr. Zhihong Li, Professor of China Agriculture University (CAU)	
14:40- 15:00	Report on e-Certification System	Mr. Lianzhu Di, DDG of GAC-China	
	Section 5: Report from China: Operational aspects	Moderator: Marica Gatt	
15:00- 15:15	Domestic Plant Quarantine in Shaanxi province	Local expert	
15:15- 15:30	Domestic board control in Shaanxi province	Local expert	
15:30- 16:00	Coffee Break		
	Section 6: Introduction of Chinese Green Plant Protection products	Moderator: Mr. Xiaodong Feng	
16:00- 18:00	Briefing on Green plant health technologies and products from Selected Plant Health Industries (5-6 representatives)	All	
19:00- 21:00	Ice Breaker (Poster display and products demonstration of Green plant health technologies and products from all invited Plant Health Industries) with light dinner provided	All	

## **APPENDIX 2: Participants List**

Region/ Role	Name, mailing, address, telephone	Email address
	Mr Jean Gérard MEZUI M'ELLA	
Africa	Executive Director of the Inter-African Phytosanitary	jeangerardmezuimella@yahoo.fr
Region	Council	
	Cameroon	
	Mr Prudence T. ATTIPOE	
	Deputy Director	
Africa	Head Plant Quarantine Division	
Region	Plant Protection and Regulatory Services	tonattipoe@yahoo.co.uk
	Directorate (PPRSD) MOFA	
	Ghana	
	Ms Faith NDUNGE	
Africa	Head biosafety and phytosanitary services	ndungeq@yahoo.com
Region	Kenya Plant Health Inspectorate Services	fndunge@kephis.org
	Kenya	
	Mme Nomenjanahary Saholy RAMILIARIJAONA	
	Directrice de la Protection des Végétaux	
Africa	Ministère auprès de la Présidence en charge de	lyhosa@gmail.com
Region	l'Agriculture et de l'Elevage	
	Madagascar	
	Ms Elisa MAZUMA	
	Deputy Directo of Agricultural Research Services	
Africa	Ministry of Agriculture, Irrigation and Water elisa	elisamazuma@gmail.com
Region	Development	
	Malawi	
	Mr Mekki CHOUIBANI	
Africa	Executive Director Near East Plant Protection	hq.neppo@gmail.com
Region	Organisation (NEPPO)	chouibani@gmail.com
J	Morocco	
	Mr Afonso SITOLE	
	Plant protection officer	
Africa	National plant protection organization	afonsostl@gmail.com
Region	National Directorate of Agriculture and Forest	
-	Ministry of Agriculture and Food Security	
	Mozambique	

Africa Region Nigeria Agricultural Quarantine Service Nigeria  Ms Raymonda JOHNSON  Africa Region Head Crop Protection Service, MAFFS Sierra Leone  Mr Mamba Mamba DAMAS Director Ministry of Agriculture The Democratic Republic of the Congo  Mr Mohamed Lahbib Ben JAMAA Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Mr Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Africa Region Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Africa Region Director Research Institute Zambia Agriculture Research Institute Zambia Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Phytosanitary Officer,		Mr Moses Adegboyega ADEWUMI	
Airica Region  Alfrica Region  Ms Raymonda JOHNSON  Head Crop Protection Service, MAFFS Sierra Leone  Mr Mamba Mamba DAMAS Director Ministry of Agriculture The Democratic Republic of the Congo  Mr Mohamed Lahbib Ben JAMAA Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Mr Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Africa Region  Africa Region  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Phytosanitary Officer,			
Africa Region Mr Mamba Mamba DAMAS  Africa Region Mr Mamba Mamba DAMAS  Director Ministry of Agriculture The Democratic Republic of the Congo  Mr Mohamed Lahbib Ben JAMAA  Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles  Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU  Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries  Uganda  Mr Doreen Malekano CHOMBA  Africa Region Zambia Agriculture Research Officer  Zambia Agriculture Research Institute  Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI  Director  Department of Research and Specialist Services  Zimbabwe  Mr Skhayala DADASHOVA  Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State  Phytosanitary Officer,		· ·	adegboyegamoses37@yahoo.co
Africa Region Mr Mohamed Lahbib Ben JAMAA  Africa Region Mr Mohamed Lahbib Ben JAMAA  Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU  Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Africa Region Mr Soreen Malekano CHOMBA  Africa Region Director Agriculture Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI  Africa Principal Agriculture Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA  Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Phytosanitary Officer,	Region		<u>m</u>
Africa Region  Africa Region  Africa Africa Region  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Principal Agricultural Research Officer Zambia Agriculture Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Phytosanitary Officer,  Region  Africa Region  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Phytosanitary Officer,		Nigeria	
Region MAFFS Sierra Leone  Mr Mamba Mamba DAMAS Director Ministry of Agriculture The Democratic Republic of the Congo  Mr Mohamed Lahbib Ben JAMAA Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Principal Agricultural Research Officer Zambia  Africa Region  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Phytosanitary Officer,		Ms Raymonda JOHNSON	
Region  MAFFS Sierra Leone  Mr Mamba Mamba DAMAS Director Ministry of Agriculture The Democratic Republic of the Congo  Mr Mohamed Lahbib Ben JAMAA Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Principal Agricultural Research Officer Zambia Agriculture Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Phytosanitary Officer,	Africa	Head Crop Protection Service,	roumanda iahnaan@yahaa aam
Africa Region  Mr Mamba Mamba DAMAS  Director Ministry of Agriculture The Democratic Republic of the Congo  Mr Mohamed Lahbib Ben JAMAA Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Principal Agricultural Research Officer Zambia Agriculture Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Region Phytosanitary Officer,  Mamasmamba@yahoo.fr damasmamba@yahoo.fr damasmamba@yahoo.fr damasmmb6@gmail.com benjamaa.lahib@iresa.agrinet.  pmwambu@agriculture.go.ug bkisingiri@agriculture.go.ug bkisingiri@a	Region	MAFFS	raymonda.jonnson@yanoo.com
Africa Region  Director Ministry of Agriculture The Democratic Republic of the Congo  Mr Mohamed Lahbib Ben JAMAA Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Mr Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Principal Agricultural Research Officer Zambia Agriculture Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Phytosanitary Officer,		Sierra Leone	
Africa Region  Ministry of Agriculture The Democratic Republic of the Congo  Mr Mohamed Lahbib Ben JAMAA Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Principal Agricultural Research Officer Zambia Agriculture Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Phytosanitary Officer,		Mr Mamba Mamba DAMAS	
Region  Ministry of Agriculture The Democratic Republic of the Congo  Mr Mohamed Lahbib Ben JAMAA Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Africa Region Africa Region Africa Region Africa Region  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Phytosanitary Officer,  Mr Mohamed Lahbib Ben JAMAA ben Jaman and demiaman and benjamaa.lahib@iresa.agrinet.  Denjamaanl@gmail.com benjamaa.lahib@iresa.agrinet.  Denjamaanl@gmail.com benjamaa.lahib@iresa.agrinet.  Dmwambu@agriculture.go.ug bkisingiri@agriculture.go.ug  dchomba71@gmail.com  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Lhayala.dadashova@afsa.gov.aglication Lhayala.dadashova@mail.ru	Africa	Director	damasmamba@vahoo.fr
The Democratic Republic of the Congo  Mr Mohamed Lahbib Ben JAMAA Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Africa Region Africa		Ministry of Agriculture	-
Africa Region  Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Principal Agriculture Research Officer Region  Africa Region  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Region  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Region  Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection Générale de la Protection Générale de la Denjamaanl@gmail.com benjamaa.lahib@iresa.agrinet.  pmwambu@agriculture.go.ug bkisingiri@agriculture.go.ug bkisingiri@agriculture.go.ug  dchomba71@gmail.com  Mdchomba71@gmail.com  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Avayala.dadashova@afsa.gov.a/ khayala.dadashova@mail.ru	rtogion	The Democratic Republic of the Congo	danasiiinbo@ginaii.com
Africa Region  Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Principal Agriculture Research Officer Region  Africa Region  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Region  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Region  Directeur Général Direction Générale de la Protection Générale de la Protection Générale de la Denjamaanl@gmail.com benjamaa.lahib@iresa.agrinet.  pmwambu@agriculture.go.ug bkisingiri@agriculture.go.ug bkisingiri@agriculture.go.ug  dchomba71@gmail.com  Mdchomba71@gmail.com  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Avayala.dadashova@afsa.gov.a/ khayala.dadashova@mail.ru			
Africa Region Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Principal Agricultural Research Officer Zambia Agriculture Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Region Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Dmwambu@agriculture.go.ug bkisingiri@agriculture.go.ug			benjamaaml@gmail.com
Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agricoles Tunisia  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Principal Agricultural Research Officer Zambia Agriculture Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Region Protection et du Contrôle des Produits Agriculture.go.ug  pmwambu@agriculture.go.ug bkisingiri@agriculture.go.ug bkisingiri@agriculture.go.ug  bkisingiri@agriculture.go.ug bkisingiri@agri	7		benjamaa.lahib@iresa.agrinet.tn
Africa Region  Mr Paul MWAMBU Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA Africa Region Africa Region  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Region Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Europe Region Phytosanitary Officer,  Mr Paul MWAMBU Dimexter.  Department of Crop Inspection and bkisingiri@agriculture.go.ug bkisin	Region		
Africa Region  Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA  Africa Region  Africa Region  Mr Cames MGUNI  Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Europe Region  Phytosanitary Officer,  Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and bkisingiri@agriculture.go.ug  achomba71@gmail.com  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Khayala.dadashova@afsa.gov.aca  khayala.dadashova@mail.ru			
Africa Region  Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA  Africa Region  Africa Region  Africa Region  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Europe Region  Region  Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  dchomba71@gmail.com  dchomba71@gmail.com  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Europe Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Region Phytosanitary Officer,		Mr Paul MWAMBU	pmwambu@agriculture.go.ug
Region  Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA  Africa Principal Agricultural Research Officer Zambia Agriculture Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Europe Region Phytosanitary Officer,  Europe Region  Certification Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  dchomba71@gmail.com  Mchomba71@gmail.com  Mchomba71@gmail.com  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Europe Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Region Phytosanitary Officer,	Africa	Commissioner, Department of Crop Inspection and	bkisingiri@agriculture.go.ug
Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA  Africa Principal Agricultural Research Officer Zambia Agriculture Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI  Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA  Europe Region Phytosanitary Officer,  Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries Uganda  Mchomba71@gmail.com  Mdchomba71@gmail.com  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Xayala.dadashova@afsa.gov.akkhayala.dadashova@mail.ru  Region Phytosanitary Officer,		Certification	
Africa Principal Agricultural Research Officer Region Zambia Agriculture Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI  Africa Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Region Phytosanitary Officer,  Mchomba71@gmail.com  dchomba71@gmail.com  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Xayala.dadashova@afsa.gov.a	rtogion	Ministry of Agriculture Animal Industry and Fisheries	
Africa Principal Agricultural Research Officer Zambia Agriculture Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Europe Region Phytosanitary Officer,  Europe Region Phytosanitary Officer,		Uganda	
Region Zambia Agriculture Research Institute Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI  Africa Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Europe Region Phytosanitary Officer,  Europe Region Phytosanitary Officer,		Ms Doreen Malekano CHOMBA	
Zambia  Mr Cames MGUNI  Director  Department of Research and Specialist Services  Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA  Europe Region  Phytosanitary Officer,  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw	Africa	Principal Agricultural Research Officer	dchomba71@gmail.com
Mr Cames MGUNI  Africa Region Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Europe Region Phytosanitary Officer,  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw	Region	Zambia Agriculture Research Institute	
Africa Region Director Department of Research and Specialist Services Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA Europe Region Phytosanitary Officer,  Europe Region Director Department of Research and Specialist Services  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw		Zambia	
Region Department of Research and Specialist Services  Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA  Europe Region Phytosanitary Officer,  Mguni@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mayala@iwayafrica.co.zw  Mayala.dadashova@afsa.gov.a  khayala.dadashova@afsa.gov.a  khayala.dadashova@mail.ru		Mr Cames MGUNI	
Region Department of Research and Specialist Services  Zimbabwe  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA  Europe Region Phytosanitary Officer,  Europe Region Phytosanitary Officer,	Africa	Director	Mauri@iwayatriaa aa zw
Ms Khayala DADASHOVA  Europe Region  Ms Khayala DADASHOVA  Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Phytosanitary Officer,  Khayala.dadashova@mail.ru	Region	Department of Research and Specialist Services	Mguni@iwayairica.co.zw
Europe Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Region Phytosanitary Officer,		Zimbabwe	
Europe Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State Region Phytosanitary Officer,			
Region Phytosanitary Officer,		Ms Khayala DADASHOVA	xayala.dadashova@afsa.gov.az
	Europe	Head of the Plant Health Department, Chief State	khayala.dadashova@mail.ru
	Region	Phytosanitary Officer,	
Food Safety Agency of the Republic of Azerbaijan		Food Safety Agency of the Republic of Azerbaijan	
Azerbaijan		Azerbaijan	

Europe	Ms Kristine LIFANOVA	kristine.lifanova@vaad.gov.lv
Region	Director of the Latvian Plant Protection Service	
	Latvia	
Europe	Ms Marica GATT	marica.gatt@gov.mt
Region	Director General (VPRD)	
	Office of the Director General / Administration	
	Veterinary and Phytosanitary Regulation Division	
	Malta	
Europe	Ms Olga ZAKHAROVA	zakharicho@mail.ru
Region	Head of the Directorate for Land Surveillance,	
	Grain Quality and Safety of the Federal Service for	
	Veterinary and Phytosanitary Surveillance of the	
	Ministry of Agriculture of the Russian Federation	
	Russia	
Europe	Ms Snezhana USACHEVA	intervniikr@gmail.com
Region	Interpreter	
	Russia	
Europe	Ms Daria Janjic NISAVIC	daria.janjic@minpolj.gov.rs
Region	Assistant Minister	
	Sector for International cooperation	
	Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Water	
	Management	
	Serbia	
Europe	Mr Murat ŞAHIN	msahin46@gmail.com
Region	IPPC Contact point Turkey	
	Head of Department of Plant Health and Quarantine	
	Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry	
	Turkey	
	-	
	Mr. Abracal Kornel El. ATTAD	
 	Mr Ahmed Kamal EL-ATTAR	
Near East	Head of Central Administration of Plant Quarantine	ippc@capq.gov.eg,
Region	Ministry of Agriculture and Land Reclamation  Egypt	ippc.egypt@gmail.com
Near East	Mr Abdulqader Khudhair ABBAS	abdulkadar abbas@yabas sam
	•	abdulkader_abbas@yahoo.com
Region	Ministry of Agriculture	crop_prot@moagr.org
	Plant protection directorate	
	Iraq	

Near East	Mr Mamoun ALBAKRI	mambakri@email.com
Region	Regional representative, Near East, Head of	
	phytosanitary labs	
	Ministry of Agriculture	
	Jordan	
Near East	Mr Ali Saif AL-SHAIBANI	binsaif2009@hotmail.com
Region	Director General of Plant Protection Directorate at	
	Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation in Yemen. He is	
	also the IPPC Official Contact Point in Yemen.	
	Yemen	
NATESC	Mr Xiaodong FENG	fengxdong@agri.gov.cn
	Chief of the Division of Plant Quarantine	
	National Agro-technical Extension and Service	
	Center	
	Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs,P. R.	
	CHINA	
NATESC	Mr Xiaoliang WANG	wangxiaoliang@agri.gov.cn
	Division of Plant Quarantine	
	National Agro-technical Extension and Service	
	Center	
	Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs,P. R.	
	CHINA	
FAO-OSS	Mr Shengyao Tang	Shengyao.Tang@fao.org
	Director, OSS	
IPPC	Mr Jingyuan Xia	jingyuan.xia@fao.org
	IPPC Secretary	
	International Plant Protection Convention	
	Secretariat	
IPPC	Marko Benovic	marko.benovic@fao.org
	Budget and Planning Officer	
	International Plant Protection Convention	
	Secretariat	
L	1	